
Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.

Please ask for:
Marie Lowe

30 August 2018

Dear Councillor

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
SOCIAL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE to be held on Monday 10 September 
2018 at 7.30pm in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden 
City, Herts, AL8 6AE.

Yours faithfully

Corporate Director
Public Protection, Planning and Governance

A G E N D A
PART 1

SECTION A - PROCEDURAL BUSINESS AND POLICY REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT 
ITEMS

1.  SUBSTITUTION OF MEMBERS 

To note any substitution of Committee Members in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rules 19 – 22.

2.  APOLOGIES 

3.  MINUTES 

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 18 June 2018 
(previously circulated). 

4.  ACTIONS UPDATE (Pages 5 - 6)

Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) on 
the status of actions agreed at the last meeting.

Public Document Pack



5.  NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 18 

6.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS 

To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on this Agenda. 

7.  PUBLIC QUESTION TIME AND PETITIONS 

Up to fifteen minutes will be made available for questions from members of the 
public on issues relating to the work of the Committee and to receive any petitions.

8.  PERFORMANCE INDICATOR REPORT (Pages 7 - 14)

Report of the Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) 
and accompanying presentation the Committee with performance indicator data 
collected for those services that fall within its remit for Quarter 1 along with 
comparative information where available.

9.  PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER (PSPO) - IMPLEMENTATION 
PROGRESS UPDATE 

Presentation to update Members on the implementation of the Public Space 
Protection Order (PSPO) recently introduced in Hatfield.

10.  STRATEGIC HOUSING UPDATE (Pages 15 - 24)

Report of the Corporate Director (Housing and Communities) provides an update 
on strategic housing and a summary of the current key issues and challenges for 
the Council.  

11.  EQUALITY SCHEME 2018-21 (Pages 25 - 52)

Report of the Corporate Director (Housing and Communities) sets out the proposal 
for a revised Equality Scheme for Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, which will be 
considered by the Cabinet at its meeting on 4 September 2018.

12.  COMMITTEE OVERVIEW WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19 (Pages 53 - 54)

The pro-forma which sets out the Committee’s overview work programme has 
been updated since the last meeting to enable forward planning of items to be 
considered to take place. Items which the Committee agrees it would like to 
consider will be scheduled into the work programme.

13.  RESPONSE FROM CABINET TO RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

There are no responses to report to this meeting.



SECTION B - SCRUTINY ITEMS - EXECUTIVE MEMBERS ARE EXCLUDED FROM 
THIS PART OF THE MEETING

14.  CONSIDERATION OF ITEMS FOR SCRUTINY 

To consider

(1) whether any Cabinet decisions should be scrutinised post-implementation 
(Paragraph 14.1 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules) 

(2) whether any items which relate to areas covered by the Committee which a 
member of the Committee may wish to raise with a view to deciding whether 
an issue should be scrutinised.

15.  COMMITTEE SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19 

The pro-forma which sets out the Committee’s scrutiny work programme is 
attached to enable forward planning of items to be considered to take place as 
appropriate.

16.  RESPONSE FROM CABINET/COUNCIL TO SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS/ 
REPORTS 

There are no responses to report to this meeting.

17.  COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION 

To receive any request from a Councillor for a discussion on behalf of residents on 
an issue affecting a single council ward where local problems have arisen and 
other methods of resolution have been exhausted.

18.  SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION 

19.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

The Committee is asked to resolve:

That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for item 20 (if any) on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined 
in Section 100A(3) and Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act (as amended). 

In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 



PART II - PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL ITEMS

20.  ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF A CONFIDENTIAL OR EXEMPT NATURE AT THE 
DISCRETION OF THE CHAIRMAN 

Circulation: Councillors H.Bromley (Chairman)
H.Bower (Vice-Chairman)
A.Chesterman
L.Chesterman
S.Elam
P.Hebden

R.Lass
P.Mabbott
L.Musk
A Rohale
S.Thusu

T.Kingsbury (Executive Member, Housing and Community)

Tenants’ Panel Representatives
D.Goodson and B.Rhodes

Corporate Management Team
Press and Public (except Part II Items)

If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Marie Lowe, 
Governance Services on 01707 357443 or email – democracy@welhat.gov.uk



Part I
Main author: Marie Lowe
Executive Member: Fiona Thomson
Not Specific Ward 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
SOCIAL OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 10 SEPTEMBER 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE)

ACTIONS STATUS REPORT

1 Executive Summary

1.1 In order to ensure that actions identified at meetings are completed, this report 
lists the actions from the meeting on 18 June 2018, those responsible for 
completing each action and its current status.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 That Members note the status of actions which were identified at the meeting 
of this Committee on 18 June 2018.

Minute Action Responsible Status/
Date Completed

7. Greenwich 
Leisure Ltd (GLL)

Paul 
Underwood

To arrange tours of the sites 
managed by GLL for all elected 
Members.

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Part I
Main author: Paul Underwood
Executive Member: Cllr Tony Kingsbury
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
SOCIAL OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 10 SEPTEMBER 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND 
CULTURAL SERVICES)

PERFORMANCE INDICATOR REPORT 

1 Executive Summary

1.1 This report and accompanying presentation provides the Committee with 
performance indicator data collected for those services that fall within its remit. It 
provides Quarter 1 along with comparative information where available. 

1.2 Taken together, this report and presentation enables this Committee to identify 
which of our services are improving, not improving or remaining the same in their 
key performance areas. Service comments are also included to explain the 
performance shown, along with any further action needed.   

2 Recommendations 

2.1 It is recommended that this Committee:

 Note the performance indicator data which is collected and reported here.  

 Discuss and agree any feedback to be provided to our service teams on the 
trends shown in these performance indicators on an exception basis.

3 Explanation

3.1 We use performance indicators to measure how well we are performing and 
improving our services over time. We can use them to help plan for future service 
improvements where the service is consistent with our published corporate 
priorities set out in the council’s Business Plan 2018-21.  

3.2 Targets are developed by Heads of Service in liaison with their Corporate Director. 
They are performance managed both through our Committees and through our 
internal performance clinics. The latter are held quarterly and are chaired by the 
Leader of the Council, with all Executive Members attending in turn to discuss their 
respective service performance. 

Implications

4 Legal Implication

4.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from the production of this report.

5 Financial Implication

5.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the production of this report.

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



2

6 Risk Management Implication

6.1 There are no direct risk management implications arising from the production of 
this report.

7 Security & Terrorism Implication

7.1 There are no direct security and terrorism implications arising from the production 
of this report.

8 Procurement Implication

8.1 There are no direct procurement implications arising from the production of this 
report.

9 Climate Change Implication

9.1 There are no direct climate change implications arising from the production of this 
report.

10 Health and Wellbeing Implication

10.1 There are no health and wellbeing implications directly arising from the contents of 
this report.

11 Communication and Engagement Implication

11.1 There are no communication and engagement implications directly arising from the 
contents of this report.

12 Link to Corporate Priorities

12.1 This report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority ‘Our Council’.

13 Equality and Diversity

13.1 An equalities impact assessment was not completed for the collection and reporting 
of performance indicators.

Name of Author: Paul Underwood - 01707 357220
Title: Head of Policy and Culture
Date: August 2018

Background Paper:

SOSC Performance Indicator Presentation – Quarter 1 (2018-19)

Page 8



23/08/18

1

SOSC Performance Indicators

Quarter 1 2018-19

Paul Underwood

Head of Policy & Culture

01707 357220 / p.underwood@welhat.gov.uk

Performance Indicator – 8
The percentage of residents who feel safe in their neighbourhoods 

during the day

Q1
95% 95%96%

93%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Performance Trend

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Service Comments

The community safety partnership continues to deliver community engagement events to provide 
reassurance. For example, our most recent event took place from 20 - 24 August where the 
partnership worked with a full range of partners to deliver ‘keep safe’ messages in the Howard 
Centre.  

Page 9



23/08/18

2

Performance Indicator – 9
The percentage of residents who feel safe in their neighbourhoods 

after dark

Q1

65% 65%70% 71%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Performance Trend

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Service Comments

As with the previous slide, the community safety partnership continues to deliver community 
engagement events to provide reassurance. For example, our most recent event took place from 
the 20 - 24 August where the partnership worked with a full range of partners to deliver ‘keep safe’ 
messages in the Howard Centre.

Performance Indicator – 11
Visits to and use of local museums and galleries, in person 

(per 1,000 population)

Q1

42 42

49 50

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Performance Trend

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Service Comments

This is a very pleasing result for Quarter 1 giving a good start to 2018-19. We have been through the 
process of rebranding and we are now making greater use of social media. Visitor numbers are slightly 
higher compared to Quarter 1 in 2017-18 even when using the new increased borough population figure.
Our first two big events of the year (National Open Mills and Roman Day in May and June) fell in this 
quarter, and both were well attended showing an increase on last year's figures. This is despite Roman Day 
competing with an England game in the World Cup, and the local primary school declaring an inset day that 
saw many local Welwyn children going away for a long weekend. This year’s Welwyn Festival was 
extended because of this. 

Page 10



23/08/18

3

Performance Indicator – 12
School group visits and use of museums and galleries

Q1

600 600
582

830

0

200

400

600

800

1000

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Performance Trend

0

200

400

600

800

1000

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Service Comments

The target for Quarter 1 has been exceeded with all available June school days almost fully booked. It is 
good to begin the year with such pleasing figures.

However the Easter holidays fell in April and we only had one school booked in for that month. This is 
consistent with other years when the holidays fall in this way.

This quarter we have seen an increase in whole year groups visiting together which does put pressure on 
the site facilities, and on staffing and volunteering levels, as the visits require more input from both.

Performance Indicator – 13
The total number of tickets sold across all businesses at CW Entertainment,

(excluding private party bookings)

Q1

60,000 60,000
64,905

50,616

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Performance Trend

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Service Comments

The first quarter has been one the quietest trading periods for a number of years, with exceptionally 
warm weather and the lack of a quality film product to attract customers, resulting in low ticket sales. 

RollerCity and Soft Play City have also achieved lower ticket sales than usual because of the very 
warm weather which started at the end of May. This has also had a knock-on effect on our food and 
beverage operation. This outturn serves to illustrate how weather dependent the business is, and how 
the film offer in particular impacts on overall customer numbers. 

Page 11



23/08/18

4

Performance Indicator – 14
The percentage of customers satisfied with value for money 

across all services offered by CW Entertainment

Q1
90.00% 90.00%

71.06%

89.46%

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Performance Trend

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

Service Comments

This is just below target but much better than last year and shows the journey of improvement over the 
year. The improved score is now starting to align itself with the customer satisfaction score in PI15. 

Performance Indicator – 15
The percentage of customers satisfied with all services and facilities 

offered by CW Entertainment

Q1

92.00% 92.00%

69.73%

94.27%

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19Target Actual

Performance Trend

0.00%

20.00%

40.00%

60.00%

80.00%

100.00%

2017/18 2018/19
Target Actual

Service Comments

Satisfaction levels continue to remain at very high levels, and have massively improved on the same 
period last year. Following a sustained period of organisational change over 2017-18 the business now 
has a much more settled operational structure. This outturn is a testament to the hard work of the front 
of house team in making sure customers have a very positive experience when they visit. 

Page 12



23/08/18

5

Performance Indicator – 29
The maximum number of households living in temporary accommodation in the 

borough (where the council has a duty)

Q1

55

75

68

110

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Performance Trend

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Service Comments

We have seen a continued and increased demand.  In response to the query raised by SOSC in the last 
meeting we can confirm that within the households living in TA there are 130 adults and 121 children.  
The main reason for increased demand is the ending of private sector tenancies.
Although households are moving on from TA this has not been at a sufficient level to stop the increase. 
We are also seeing an increase in the number of households living in bed and breakfast.   
It is essential that more homes are provided, both high quality temporary and permanent.  We are 
currently looking at a range of options for this additional provision.

Performance Indicator – 30
The number of Decent Homes assessments undertaken 

in properties in the private sector

Q1

113
125

135 142

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Performance Trend

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

2017/18 2018/19

Target Actual

Service Comments

This is an excellent result as it represents 114% of this quarters target and provides a solid foundation for 
achieving the annual target.

The number of assessments will vary according to the amount of reactive and programmed inspections 
compared to the degree of proactive work to identify and confirm suspected HMO’s.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Sian Chambers
Executive Member: Tony Kingsbury
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
SOCIAL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 10 SEPTEMBER 2018
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES)

STRATEGIC HOUSING UPDATE

1 Executive Summary

1.1 This report provides an update on strategic housing and provides a summary of 
the current key issues.

1.2 The Community and Housing Strategy team are responsible for the development 
and monitoring of the Housing and Homelessness Strategy; delivery of the 
housing needs service, regulatory standards in the private rented sector, 
licensing Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs); the Landlord Accreditation 
Scheme (PAL); management of the Disabled Facilities Grant service; monitoring 
empty homes and development of housing policy.

1.3 The team also deals with both enablement and delivery of affordable homes via 
the council’s Affordable Housing Programme.  The programme is monitored on 
a regular basis at Cabinet Housing Panel.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 Members to note the content of this report.

3 Explanation

Housing and Homelessness Strategy 

3.1 The council’s current Housing and Homelessness Strategy expires this year and 
a new five year strategy is currently being developed.  

3.2 The council recently held a stakeholder forum to take on views and ideas on 
what the key issues and challenges are going forward; there have also been a 
number of focus groups and sessions with relevant stakeholders around three 
key themes 

 Housing quality and support

 Asset management and new delivery

 Homelessness

3.3 The draft strategy will be available for consultation in October.

3.4 In terms of the current strategy (2013 to 2018), there were five priority areas and 
a summary of achievements under each area is set out below

Page 15

Agenda Item 10



- 2 -

3.5  Supply of Affordable housing

3.6 The council agreed a five year Delivery Plan for its own Affordable Housing 
Programme in April 2016.  Progress on this is monitored on a biannual basis by 
Cabinet Housing Panel. 183 properties had been delivered via the programme at 
the end of July 2018.  We aim to deliver a further 46 properties (mix of new build, 
and open market purchase) by the end of this financial year, which will give us a 
grand total 229 properties to date.

3.7 In September 2017 the council was successful in securing £14K funding via a bid 
to the Local Government Association (LGA) Special Advisors programme.

3.8 The LGA commissioned Campbell Tickell consultants to carry out this work, 
aimed at helping the council extend its housing development programme, and 
they produced an advisory report, which was summarised in a report to Cabinet 
Housing Panel in August.

3.9 The key outcomes arising from this work is that a comprehensive assessment of 
Housing Revenue Account land and assets is underway, to identify potential 
housing development and modernisation opportunities; ‘Spot the Plot’ - an 
initiative to encourage staff and members to identify possible sites has been 
launched; a company is being procured to provide advice on the next steps to 
establishing a Local Housing Company – which could be used to help deliver 
more homes in a flexible way.

3.10 A new Housing Development Strategy will be agreed, once this work has 
completed.

3.11 Raising Standards in the private sector, particularly HMOs.

3.12 In the most recent census (2011) the percentage of private rented homes in the 
borough was 14%.  However we are aware that this proportion has increased 
since then, in line with national trends – which has seen a reduction in owner 
occupation and an increase in the number of households in privately rented 
accommodation.

3.13 The stock modelling work undertaken in 2014 indicated that there are 
approximately 2340 HMOs in the borough, which is around 5% of the housing 
stock (national average 2%).  However as these are predominantly located within 
Hatfield, the proportion of HMOs as the housing stock within the town is greater.

3.14 In order to improve the quality of data we hold, the team carry out desk top 
research to identify privately rented homes.  Any properties that are suspected 
HMOS are sent a declaration form and the average response rate to this is 77%.  
Visits are carried out to properties where a form is not returned.  Since this 
initiative began in 2016 just shy of 100 roads and 6569 properties have been 
investigated, resulting in the identification of 366 HMOs (previously not 
confirmed) plus 495 single occupancy privately rented homes.

3.15 More recently the team have used data available from the Tenancy Deposit 
Scheme Companies.  They are obliged to share information in order that the 
council can carry out its statutory duties – including proactively identifying 
licensable HMOs.  This new data has led to the identification of more than 100 
HMOs

Page 16



- 3 -

3.16 Overall the team has now risk rated more than 1300 HMOs of which 351 are 
subject to mandatory licensing.

3.17 From October this year, the mandatory licensing scheme will be extended to 
include all HMOs with five or more occupiers – regardless of the number of 
storeys.  We estimate that there will be an additional 700 properties which will be 
subject to licensing.  The team is being expanded to ensure that there are 
sufficient resources to manage the extended scheme.  The increased costs will 
be covered by the license fees.

3.18 The team also promotes our Landlord Accreditation Scheme.  Since rebranding 
the team in June 2015, the focus has been on bringing letting and managing 
agents up to standard.  Where they have applied, are eligible and following an 
audit of their management practices meet PAL standards, agents become 
‘partners’ of the scheme.

3.19 There are currently twelve letting agents with partner status, covering around 
1500 properties; there are a further 300 properties accredited under the 
management of individual landlords.  Four further agents have applied for partner 
status and the team are working with them to bring them up to standard.  

3.20 The Housing and Planning Act 2016 introduced extended powers to deal with 
rogue landlords – including the ability to apply a penalty to a private landlord for 
breaches under legislation, as opposed to prosecution.  The council has recently 
adopted a policy on how we will use these powers.

Making best use of housing in the borough

3.21 Last year the council approved the Older Person’s Housing Strategy, which sets 
out the council’s plans, working jointly with partners, to meet the housing needs 
and aspirations of older people in the borough over five years. 

3.22 We want to ensure that the housing we provide best meets the needs of our 
diverse community.  As a result of a review of council sheltered housing stock, a 
number of schemes have been identified for refurbishment and modernisation 
and a programme of works is underway.  By improving our schemes they 
become more attractive to current tenants who may consider down-sizing from 
family sized homes, plus they provide a much more suitable environment, giving 
people a higher quality of life and enabling independent living for longer.

3.23 Minster House in Hatfield is currently being decanted, in preparation for 
demolition and redevelopment.  A larger modern block of one and two bedroom 
properties which meet a high quality design standard - including balconies, 
improved mobility access, larger units and maximising natural light will be 
developed. 

3.24 In addition to this the community alarms and assisted technology services have 
been extended to both existing tenants and the wider community – helping 
people remain in their own homes for longer.  

3.25 We are currently re-developing poor quality blocks of studio flats in Northdown 
Road, Hatfield – which will deliver 16 high quality one bedroom flats.  We are 
also preparing plans to redevelop our temporary accommodation in Howlands 
House – which will deliver a much larger and modern facility to provide for the 
needs of homeless households locally

Page 17



- 4 -

3.26 As stated earlier in this report, we have recently commissioned a full review of 
the Housing Revenue Account assets, which will identify both land and assets 
which have potential redevelopment opportunities.

Meeting older people and vulnerable group’s housing needs

3.27 As mentioned in 3.21 an Older Person’s Housing Strategy has been agreed with 
an associated Action Plan.

3.28 A joint Strategic Board has been set up with Herts County Council children 
services, health and other districts – to jointly consider the supported housing 
needs of families with children and care leavers; a cross county joint pathway 
model for prevention, supported housing and move on accommodation – called 
the Homeless Hub – has been set up and was launched this year.

3.29 Similarly a countywide Strategic Board, considering the needs of adults with 
support needs has been established.  This has representation from Adult Care 
Services and health services, to better understand and meet the needs of 
vulnerable groups such as adults with learning difficulties, mental health issues, 
drug and alcohol use, victims of domestic abuse and ex-offenders.  A Supported 
Housing Strategy to meet the needs identified across the county has recently 
been launched and a local multi agency Board meets quarterly to discuss 
potential joint working opportunities and strategic planning within the borough.

3.30 In accordance with the requirements of the Homeless Reduction Act, housing 
pathways have been reviewed and refreshed/established for all key care groups 
such as people with mental health issues and/or drug and alcohol issues; care 
leavers, victims of domestic abuse, older people and other vulnerable groups.

3.31 The government has recently consulted on proposals to change the way 
supported housing is funded and made an announcement in August that they 
have decided to retain the costs for supported housing within the welfare benefit 
system – so that housing benefit will continue to be the source of funding for 
most supported housing costs. 

Prevention of Homelessness

3.32 Due to a combination of pressures, including a reduction in the number of vacant 
affordable properties, a higher number of approaches from homeless families and 
a reduction of availability within the private rented sector, there has been a rise 
in the number of households in temporary accommodation and the council is now 
having to resort to the use of bed and breakfast. Appendix A shows the increased 
number of households in temporary accommodation. The number of households 
in temporary accommodation at the end of July 2018 was 119 and 19 households 
in bed and breakfast accommodation.

3.33 The team works hard to prevent homelessness and the quality of advice provided 
was recognised earlier this year when the team were only the second 
Hertfordshire council to be awarded the Gold Standard by the National Advice 
and Support Service.  This was achieved through demonstrating that our service 
meets set standards and is also assessed via peer review.

3.34 The council has used the government ‘flexible support grant’ to fund an innovative 
project called Housing First.  As part of this service we commission specialist 
outreach services for people sleeping rough, specialist advice for people who are 

Page 18



- 5 -

either homeless or at risk of homelessness plus a specialist supported housing 
provision; we have also been part of the establishment of the ‘joint front door’ 
approach between Herts County Council and district councils for the assessment 
of the housing needs of 16 and 17 year olds.

3.35 A project group is working on options to reduce the reliance on bed and breakfast.  
This includes developing options in the private rented sector, consideration of 
temporary units – such as pods/shipping container style units; utilising council 
properties which are empty because they are awaiting re-development 
,supporting the development of an all year round night shelter and extending our 
own property acquisition programme.

3.36 The Homeless Reduction Act was implemented in April this year.  This brought 
about a major change in the legislation around homelessness and extended the 
duties of the council.  As a result we have seen a significant increase in the 
caseloads of the housing options officers.  Any person who is homeless or at risk 
of homelessness within 56 days is provided with a Housing Support Plan, which 
must be regularly reviewed and monitored.

3.37 The box below sets out the caseload change in the first three months of the new 
Act.

Housing Options Team Caseloads

Year Total 
Enquiries 
full year

Total 
Housing 
Options 
Cases 

Total 
accepted 
full duty

Total number in 
Temporary 
accommodation

2016/17 1454 294 (20% 
of 
enquiries)

119 65 cases April 2017

2017/18 1092 264 (24% 
of 
enquiries)

171 100 cases March 2018

2018/19 
(Quarter 
One only)

284 223 
(78.5% of 
enquiries)

12* 119 cases End of July 2018

*Due to the extension in the duty period, the process leading up to a final decision 
is extended and therefore the number of decisions are currently low; over time 
we would expect this to increase, as it is due to the initial time lag following the 
introduction of the new Act.

3.38 The team was restructured in preparation of the new legislation, but there are still 
some vacancies in the structure; once we are fully staffed, we will review the 
position again to see if the level of resources invested in this area are sufficient to 
manage the demand.

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

Page 19



- 6 -

4.1 The council is legally obliged to carry out a review of homelessness in the 
borough and to produce a Homelessness Strategy.  The homelessness review is 
currently underway and the council will then produce a combined Housing and 
Homelessness Strategy

4.2 The Homeless Reduction Act 2017 came into force on 3 April 2018

4.3 The mandatory Houses in Multiple Occupation licensing scheme is being 
extended to include HMOs which are lower than three storeys – this comes into 
force in October 2018.

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  The team are 
working hard to develop alternative housing and prevention initiatives, to ensure 
that the use of bed and breakfast is minimised 

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 Increase in homelessness; the reduction in availability of private rented 
accommodation is likely to lead to increased demand for housing and possibly a 
rise in homelessness with the associated financial burden and social cost to 
families; controls in place are robust housing options service and homeless 
prevention; joint work with the CAB and other agencies to prevent homelessness; 
development of single housing pathway with HCC and other districts for young 
people; Strategic Housing Boards across Herts to review/protect and develop 
supported housing services for adults with support needs; Affordable Housing 
Programme; plans to enhance temporary accommodation provision. 

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 There are not implications for security and terrorism arising from this report.  

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 There are no procurement implications arising from this report.

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 There are no climate change implications arising from this report.

10 Link to Corporate Priorities

10.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority ‘Our 
Housing’

11 Communications Plan

11.1 There is a communications plan associated with the Affordable Housing 
Programme and the implementation of the Homeless Reduction Act.

12 Health and Wellbeing

12.1 The availability of good quality housing has a positive impact on health and well 
being

Page 20



- 7 -

13 Equality and Diversity

13.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out in connection with 
this report, as it is for information only.

Name of author Sian Chambers Ext 2640
Title Head of Community and Housing Strategy
Date 8 August 2018 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

42 44 39 44 47 47 49 47
53 55 56 56 56 58 57

17 16
18

17 16 17 15 15
17

20 20 17 17
20 18

2 2
2

2 2 2 2 2

2
2 2

2 2
2

2

2 1
1

1
3 4 4 4

3
1 3 11 8

9 15

8 8
8

9
9

11 10 14
13

15
15

14
12

12 107
9 11

Ap
r-

17

M
ay

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

Ju
l-1

7

Au
g-

17

Se
p-

17

O
ct

-1
7

N
ov

-1
7

De
c-

17

Ja
n-

18

Fe
b-

18

M
ar

-1
8

Ap
r-

18

M
ay

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100
110
120

71 71 68
73 77 81 81 83

89
94 97 100 102

110 113

Howlands House

Hazel Grove House

Paradigm

B&B

YMCA

Total Duty By Location

71 71 68
73 77 81 81 83

89 94 97
100

102
110 113

69 69 69 69 70 71 71 72 73 75 77 80 82 86 89

Ap
r-

17

M
ay

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

Ju
l-1

7

Au
g-

17

Se
p-

17

O
ct

-1
7

N
ov

-1
7

De
c-

17

Ja
n-

18

Fe
b-

18

M
ar

-1
8

Ap
r-

18

M
ay

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

50

70

90

110

Total duty households in TA at period end Moving 12mths average (trend)

42 44

39

44
47 47 49

47

53 55 56 56 56 58 57

Ap
r-

17

M
ay

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

Ju
l-1

7

Au
g-

17

Se
p-

17

O
ct

-1
7

N
ov

-1
7

De
c-

17

Ja
n-

18

Fe
b-

18

M
ar

-1
8

Ap
r-

18

M
ay

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

30

40

50

60

17

16

18 17 16 17

15 15

17 20 20
17 17

20

18

Ap
r-

17

M
ay

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

Ju
l-1

7

Au
g-

17

Se
p-

17

O
ct

-1
7

N
ov

-1
7

De
c-

17

Ja
n-

18

Fe
b-

18

M
ar

-1
8

Ap
r-

18

M
ay

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

10

20

30 Hazel Grove House Average

Page 23



2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Ap
r-

17

M
ay

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

Ju
l-1

7

Au
g-

17

Se
p-

17

O
ct

-1
7

N
ov

-1
7

De
c-

17

Ja
n-

18

Fe
b-

18

M
ar

-1
8

Ap
r-

18

M
ay

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

0
1
2
3
4

2
1 1 1

3
4 4 4

3
1

3

11

8
9

15

Ap
r-

17

M
ay

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

Ju
l-1

7

Au
g-

17

Se
p-

17

O
ct

-1
7

N
ov

-1
7

De
c-

17

Ja
n-

18

Fe
b-

18

M
ar

-1
8

Ap
r-

18

M
ay

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

0

5

10

15 B&B Average

1

Ap
r-

17

M
ay

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

Ju
l-1

7

Au
g-

17

Se
p-

17

O
ct

-1
7

N
ov

-1
7

De
c-

17

Ja
n-

18

Fe
b-

18

M
ar

-1
8

Ap
r-

18

M
ay

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

0

1

2

7

9

11

Ap
r-

17

M
ay

-1
7

Ju
n-

17

Ju
l-1

7

Au
g-

17

Se
p-

17

O
ct

-1
7

N
ov

-1
7

De
c-

17

Ja
n-

18

Fe
b-

18

M
ar

-1
8

Ap
r-

18

M
ay

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

0
2
4
6
8

10
12

Other Average

Page 24



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Simone Chinman Russell
Executive Member: Tony Kingsbury
Wards: All

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
SOCIAL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 10 SEPTEMBER 2018

EQUALITY SCHEME 2018-21

1 Executive Summary

1.1 The purpose of this report is to propose a revised Equality Scheme for Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough Council. 

1.2 The Scheme meets the requirements of the Equality Act 2010 and has been 
developed by the council’s Equality and Diversity Steering Group. 

1.3 The council’s new Equality Scheme will reflect the five new equality objectives as 
set out in the Equality Policy 2018.

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That Cabinet endorses the new Equality Scheme and recommends its approval to 
Council.

3 Explanation

3.1 The Equality and Diversity Steering Group has developed a revised Equality 
Scheme which will replace the previously published Scheme for Welwyn Hatfield 
Council.  The proposed new Scheme is fully compliant with the requirements of 
the Equality Act 2010.  In addition to the requirement for the council to take 
positive steps to prevent discrimination and promote good relations among 
people from different groups, the council, as a public authority, is also required to 
publish an Equality Scheme. This sets out our equality objectives and explains 
the actions we intend to take to achieve them. We are also required to state how 
we have consulted on our Equality Scheme.

3.2 The proposed new Equality Scheme provides a framework for ensuring that our 
commitment towards equal opportunities is reflected in all the services we 
deliver, including those which we provide as an employer and partner to other 
organisations.  

3.3 The Equality Scheme sets out five equality objectives. These are:

1. We will lead by example within the community, promoting equality of 
opportunity and fairness.

2. We will value and understand the diversity of our communities, for the benefit 
of our customers and all residents of the borough.

3. We will deliver fully accessible, fair and inclusive services.

4. We will provide equal opportunities to our employees and encourage a 
culture of equality within the work place.

Page 25

Agenda Item 11



- 2 -

5. We will consult with residents and the community on matters which affect 
them, taking into account the diversity of our borough.

3.4 An Equality Plan is published within the new Equality Scheme.  This will set out 
how the objectives will be delivered and monitored over a two year period.

3.5 Consultation has taken place during the development of the Equality Scheme.  
Consultees included residents, tenants and other service users, council 
employees, partnerships/organisations and contractors. We received 72 
responses and these included numerous comments and suggestions.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 The proposed new Equality Scheme is compliant with the Equality Act 2010.  The 
Scheme provides for fulfilment of the council’s General and Specific Equality 
Duties, as defined within the Equality Act 2010.

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 The cost of implementation and the ongoing management of the Equalities 
Scheme will be contained existing service budgets.

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 The risks related to this proposal are:

Breaches of the Equality Act by council could result in customer complaints, 
criminal proceedings, employment tribunals, fines, reputational damage and 
reduced opportunities for partnership working in the future.

6.2 The Equality Scheme will help to mitigate the risk of any future litigation against 
the council for non-compliance with the provisions of the Equality Act 2010.  

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 There are no known security and terrorism implications associated with 
this recommendation.

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 There are no direct procurement implications associated with this 
recommendation.

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 There are no climate change implications associated with this recommendation.

Page 26



- 3 -

10 Link to Corporate Priorities

10.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priorities:

Promoting equality and fairness and improving public health and wellbeing, and 
is linked to a statutory requirement under the Equality Act 2010.

10.2 However by providing greater equality of opportunity for staff, residents, 
contractors and employers, the implementation of this Scheme will help to meet 
all of the council’s corporate priorities.

11 Equality and Diversity

11.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
policies.

 
Name of author Simone Chinman Russell
Title Corporate Director, Housing and Communities
Date 31 July 2018

Appendix

Equality Scheme 2018-21 including Action Plan

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



EQUALITY SCHEME 2018-21

Page 29



Welcome to our Equality Scheme

At Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council we are committed to providing equality of opportunity for our 
customers, employees and any other people affected by our activities. 

We recognise that people come from different communities and have different circumstances. We want to 
make sure that we provide our services and employment opportunities in a way which values this diversity 
and does not create barriers to people who wish to access them.

Our Equality Scheme 2018-21 sets our Equality Objectives and explains the actions we intend to take to 
achieve them.

This document also contains useful information about our council, its customers and employees. 

We have involved a large group of customers, staff and community partners in developing the Scheme.  
Your views are important to us and we welcome your comments and feedback on our Equality Scheme.  
We also want as many people as possible to be involved in reviewing our services.  Please contact us if 
you would like to find out more about how you can get involved.

We look forward to hearing from you.

Tony Kingsbury Simone Chinman Russell
Executive Member, Housing and Community Corporate Director, Housing and Communities

If you would like to become involved or would like to give us feedback please contact us at:
Contact-whc@welhat.gov.uk
Telephone: 01707 357000

Page 30

mailto:Contact-whc@welhat.gov.uk


About Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

OUR VISION, VALUES AND PRIORITIES

Welwyn Hatfield Council provides services to 122,000 people who live in the borough and the many more 
who work and study here.  The council has more than 500 employees and indirectly provides employment 
opportunities for the many contractors who provide services on the council’s behalf.

We are passionate about delivering excellent, inclusive services within our borough and this is supported by 
our vision, values and objectives.

Our Vision
To work together to keep Welwyn Hatfield a great place to live, work and study in a vibrant and growing 
economy.

Our Values

Our values demonstrate what is important to us in our dealings with residents, businesses, partners and 
employees.

Our values are:

Fairness: We will be fair in our policies and decision making, listening to the views and learning 
from the feedback we receive

Integrity: We will be honest, clear and consistent about what we do

Respect: We will have respect for residents, businesses, partners 
and employees

Innovative: We will evaluate and implement new ways of providing our services when it leads to 
greater efficiency without compromising the quality

Responsive: We will ensure we respond to internal and external influences on our services by 
adapting them to meeting changing needs.

Transparent: We will be approachable, accountable and transparent in 
the way we communicate and conduct our business

Our priorities and objectives

Our vision is achieved by working with our partners, businesses and residents towards our five key 
priorities.

1. Our community

 Promoting inclusive and safe communities
 Improving public health and well-being
 Supporting local sport and leisure
 Promoting local art and culture

2. Our environment

 Keeping our streets clean
 Reducing waste and improving recycling
 Enhancing our green spaces
 Managing the borough’s parking

Page 31



3. Our housing 

 Planning for current and future housing need
 Providing more affordable homes
 Being a high quality landlord
 Improving housing quality in the borough

4. Our economy

 Promoting investment and regeneration
 Revitalising our neighbourhood and town centres
 Supporting sustainable economic growth
 Being business friendly

5. Our council 

 Achieving value for money
 Putting our customers first
 Promoting equality and fairness
 Being an employer of choice

More information on our priorities and service objectives can be found at www.welhat.gov.uk/businessplan

Page 32



About Welwyn Hatfield 

Welwyn Hatfield is located centrally within Hertfordshire and covers an area of approximately 130 square 
kilometres (12,954 hectares). It is bordered by Hertsmere Borough Council to the south west, St Albans 
District Council to the west, North Hertfordshire District Council to the north and East Hertfordshire District 
Council and Broxbourne Borough Councils to the east.  The very south of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough 
borders the London Borough of Enfield.  The Metropolitan Green Belt covers 79% of our borough, which is 
approximately 10,248 hectares.

Population size
The population of the borough is rising, having increased by 10.4% between 2011 and 2016.  The latest 
(mid-2016) estimate1 puts the population of Welwyn Hatfield District at 60,400 males and 61,600 females.

Ethnicity
The largest ethnic group in Welwyn Hatfield is White (English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British), 
accounting for 76.5% of the population. That compares with a figure of 80.82% for Hertfordshire.

The largest other ethnic groups are ‘white other’ (5.89%), followed by Black/African/Caribbean/Black 
British: African (3.59%) and then Asian or Asian British: Indian (3.19%).

There has been a significant change in the ethnicity of the borough’s population in recent years, with ethnic 
diversity in the borough increasing substantially.  

Between 2001 and 2011 the proportion of ‘white British’ residents has fallen by over 12%, whilst the 
percentage of all other minority ethnic groups collectively has more than doubled to 23.5%.   This increase 
has been spread across all the other non-white ethnic groups.

Immigration
The increase in ethnic diversity is reflected in immigration data.  There have been some important upward 
trends in Welwyn Hatfield.  Since 2011/12 the estimated level of immigration has increased year-on-year.  
However, this does not apply across all nationalities. 

Between 2011 and 2015 immigration from New Commonwealth countries halved, from approximately 800 
to 400 per annum whereas for the same period the registration of new migrants from EU13 countries 
increased from 400 to 1300 per annum.  The largest increase in recent years has been Polish nationals.2

Proficiency in Spoken English
In 2011, 91.44% of residents in Welwyn Hatfield used English as their main language. 0.99% of residents 
did not have English as a main language and could not speak English well. 0.13% of residents could not 
speak English at all.3

1 Annual mid-year population estimates, produced by the Office for National Statistics (ONS). 

2 DWP 2017
3 Office for National Statistics, 2011 Census

Page 33

http://atlas.hertslis.org/IAS/metadata/view/indicatorinstance?id=109401&norefer=true
http://atlas.hertslis.org/IAS/metadata/view/indicatorinstance?id=109401&norefer=true
http://atlas.hertslis.org/IAS/metadata/view/indicatorinstance?id=109414&norefer=true
http://atlas.hertslis.org/IAS/metadata/view/indicatorinstance?id=109414&norefer=true


The following table shows the recorded ethnicity profile percentages for 2001 and 2011.

Welwyn 
Hatfield

England

2001 2011 2001 2011

White : British 88.79 76.5 86.8 79.8

White: Irish 1.7 1.5 1.3 1.0

White: Gypsy or Irish Traveler Not counted
 20014

0.1 0.0 0.1

White Other 3.1 5.9 2.7 4.6
Mixed : White and Black Caribbean 0.4 0.8 0.4 0.8

Mixed : White and Black African 0.2 0.4 0.2 0.3

Mixed : White and Asian 0.5 0.7 0.3 0.6

Mixed : Other Mixed 0.4 0.6 0.3 0.5

Asian or Asian British : Indian 1.4 3.2 2.1 2.6

Asian or Asian British : Pakistani 0.3 0.7 1.5 2.1

Asian or Asian British : Bangladeshi 0.2 0.4 0.5 0.8

Asian or Asian British : Other Asian 0.4 1.9 0.5 0.7

Asian or Asian British : Chinese 0.8 1.7 0.4 1.5
Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: 
Caribbean

0.5 0.7 0.5 1.8

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: African 0.9 3.6 0.31 1.1

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: Other 
Black

0.1 0.3 0.10 0.5

Arab Not counted 
52001

0.4 0.0 0.4

Other ethnic group 0.5 0.5 0.27 0.6

Borough population by ethnic group (Census, 2001/ 2011)

The 10 years between 2001 and 2011 saw a reduction of 12.3% in the number of people in ‘White: British’ 
and rises of an average 2.75% in ‘White: Other’ and Black African Caribbean or black British and 
1.4%‘Asian or Asian British: Indian’ 

This broadly reflects the ethnic mix of the growing student population attending the University of 
Hertfordshire over this period, and a significant level of immigration of people from Eastern European 
countries to live and work in the borough principally over the first half of the decade. 

4 Not counted as an individually recognised protected characteristic until 2011
5 IBIS

Page 34



Adult disability and health 

One measurement of disability is to look at how people self-reported their household’s state of health in the 
Census 2011.  In particular, it confirmed those households who reported one of more members with a 
limiting long-term illness.

Welwyn Hatfield  England 
Households with one or more person with 
a limiting long-term illness (number) 10,079 5,659,606

Households with one or more person with 
a limiting long-term illness (percentage) 23.1% 25.7%

Households with a limiting long-term illness (Census, 2011)

A further indication of levels of adult disability and health is to identify the percentage of people in the 
borough who claim Disability Living Allowance (DLA); this is the main non-means tested benefit available to 
assist eligible people with a disability to meet their living and care needs.  

Welwyn Hatfield England 
2011 2016 2011 2016

Total number of DLA 
Claimants

2,150 1,840 1,617,390 1,189,940

Claimants:  Males 1,080 950 783,500 594,440
Claimants: Female 1,080 880 833,880 595,520

Disability Living Allowance Claimants in the Borough (ONS DWP 2011 & 2016)

The first table shows that almost one-quarter of all households in the borough identified that they had at 
least one person with a limiting long-term illness in 2011, which may or may not be a recognised disability 
as it is self-assessed.   The second table shows that there has been a significant drop in the overall number 
of DLA claimants in the borough between 2011 and 2016.  

Gender

Measuring the borough’s population by gender between 2011 and 2016 identifies the following data:
Welwyn Hatfield England 

2011 2016 2011 2016
Male 54,364 60,400 26,069,148 27,300,900
Female 56,171 61,600 26,943,308 27,967,100

Resident population in the borough (Census 2011/ONS6 population statistics, 2016)

6 Figures taken from Herts Insight’s figures from mid -year population predictions 2016

Page 35



Probing a bit further we can plot the number of males and females living in the borough by broad age 
range:

Welwyn Hatfield            England 
  2011   2016   2011      2016

Males: Age 0-9   6,520   7,700   3,219,442   3,513,300
Males: Age 10-19   6,917   7,122   3,271,327   3,120,354
Males: Age 20-59 30,677 34,700 14,164,098 14,655,200
Males: Age 60 and over 10,064 11,100 11,832,806   5,928,000

Resident population in the borough – Males (Census 2011/ONS7 population estimates, 2016)

Welwyn Hatfield        England 
  2011  2016    2011    2016

Females: Age 0-9   6,288  7,200 3,071,639  3,344,000
Females: Age 10-19   7,015  7,148 3,204,220  3,045,444
Females: Age 20-59 30,299 34,200 14,303,277 14,692000
Females: Age 60 and over 12,375 13,200 6,430,827  6,885,700

Resident population in the borough – Females (Census 2011/ONS8 population estimates, 2016)

These tables show that there are slightly more females in the borough than males and that the trend has 
been consistent from 2011 through to 2016.  The level of growth appears to be at a similar rate for both 
men and women, up until the age of 60 where there is a higher proportion of females age 60 or over in the 
borough in comparative terms.  These trends appear consistent with the National trend when looking at the 
figures for England 

Age

Population projections show that the proportion of older people in the borough will increase significantly 
over the next 20 years.  The proportion of people aged 65 and above is expected to increase from 16% to 
19.5% of the population of the borough in this period.

Religion

In 2011, over half of Welwyn Hatfield’s population considered themselves to be Christian (57.54%), with 
over one quarter of the remaining population confirming they either did not have a religion or did not state 
one. 

The 2011 Census saw increases from 2001 in the percentage of residents considering themselves to be 
Hindu (1.5% increase) and Muslim (1.4% increase).

7 IBIS
8 IBIS

Page 36



Welwyn Hatfield England 
Christian 57.5% 59.4%
Buddhist 0.8% 0.4%
Hindu 2.5% 1.5%
Jewish 0.8% 0.5%
Muslim 2.5% 5.0%
Sikh 0.3% 0.8%
Any Other Religion 0.5% 0.4%
No Religion 27.9% 24.7%
Religion Not Stated 7.11% 7.2%

Religion stated by the borough’s population (Census, 2011)

Sexual Orientation (Living arrangements, Marital and Civil Partnerships)

Up to date, specific data on sexual identity is not available for any areas lower than regional level so they 
are not reported within this policy.  

Page 37



Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council as an employer

Our council aims to be an organisation where employees are valued and proud to work.  To reinforce this 
commitment the council is developing a new Workforce Strategy.  Our objectives are:

1. One Team -  Working together to deliver excellent services
2. Leading by example - Developing excellent leadership skills
3. A positive and achieving culture – Encouraging positive behaviour and a ‘can do’ attitude
4. Performing at our best – Promoting continuous learning, personal skill development, encouraging 

innovation and celebrating our success
5. Excellent communication and engagement – involving, communicating and listening to our 

employees

At the centre of our approach to people management is our passion to value the diversity of employees and 
promote equal opportunities.

This approach is used in all of our activities as an employer, from recruitment, employee development and 
career progression.  

We carefully monitor employee data so that we can understand how well we are doing and so that we can 
identify where there are issues to suggest that we are not achieving our objectives.

We employee 503 people, covering the equivalent of 374 full time posts.  There are three main 
teams within the council, each reporting to a Director as at 1 August 2018.

Gender

We have 342 female and 163 male employees.

Age

Our employees can be classified into the following groups:

< 20 21 - 24 25 - 34 35- 44 45 - 54 55 - 64 65 + 
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Age bandings of employees

Page 38



Ethnicity

Asian Black Chinese White Not declared
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Ethnicity

Disability

3.36% of the workforce has declared a disability.

Trends and analysis of demographic data for our employee population:

All demographic data is collected by self-declaration.

We recognise that our employee population does not reflect the demographic make-up of the borough in 
relation to ethnicity. This can be partially attributed to the fact that a significant number of people from black 
and minority ethnic communities residing in the borough are students and therefore a largely transitional 
population. 

Data on disability is more difficult to accurately assess, given that this may change during an individual’s 
employment.  Through our sickness management system we are able to prompt employees to tell us where 
they acquire a disability as defined within the legislation, however because this does rely on self-declaration 
we may not always be aware of the complete picture relating to disabilities. 

We regularly monitor our recruitment and retention practices to ensure that these do not create barriers to 
people from any of the protected groups within the local population.

More information on how we support our diverse employee population is included within this equality 
scheme.

Page 39



What does the law say about Equality and Diversity? 

The Equality Act 2010 aims to make society fairer for everyone.  It brings together and strengthens previous 
equality legislation.  The Act was introduced to make equality law simpler to understand and easier to follow.

The Equality Act protects people who come from different groups and communities.  The ‘protected 
characteristics’ covered by the Equality Act 2010 are: age (18+), disability, sex, pregnancy and maternity, 
marriage and civil partnership, race, religion or belief, gender re-assignment and sexual orientation.

The legislation applies to all organisations which provide a service to the public, or sections of the public. It 
also applies to anyone who sells goods or provides facilities. It applies to all services, whether or not a 
charge is made for them.  

The Equality Act 2010 prohibits the following types of discrimination:

Direct Discrimination
This is where someone is treated less favourably than another person because of a protected 
characteristic. This also applies to a person who does not have the protected characteristic 
themselves, but is linked to or associated with someone who does. Direct discrimination also applies 
where a person is wrongly thought to have a particular protected characteristic or is treated as if they 
do.  

Indirect Discrimination
This happens when there is a rule, policy or practice that applies to everyone but disadvantages 
people who share a particular protected characteristic. 

      Harassment
This is where a service provider/employer treats an individual or group of people in a way which 
makes them feel threatened, humiliated or degraded.

Victimisation
Victimisation occurs when someone is treated badly because they have done something in relation 
to the Equality Act, such as making or supporting a complaint or raising a grievance about 
discrimination, or the service provider believes they have done so.  

The Equality Act requires service providers to take positive action

Some people with protected characteristics are disadvantaged or under-represented in some areas of life 
or have particular needs linked to their characteristic.  They may need extra help or encouragement if they 
are to have the same chances as everybody else.  Positive action provisions enable public sector 
organisations to take proportionate steps to help people overcome their disadvantages or meet their 
needs.

Page 40



Public Sector Equality Duty

Welwyn Hatfield Council is required to comply with a Public Sector Equality Duty, introduced as part of the 
Act.  There are two parts to this duty.

General Duty

We must always give consideration to the following three issues when reviewing existing policies and 
services or when planning new ones.  This also applies to staff development and management, such as 
training:

1. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the Equality 
Act 2010

2. Advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups
3. Foster good relations between people from different groups

Specific Duties
The Act requires public sector authorities such as Welwyn Hatfield Council to fulfil additional ‘specific 
duties’.  The specific duty is all about providing information on its performance to the public.  The 
information (which must be published in a clear, easy to understand format) should include:

1. How we comply with the General Duty
2. How we are assessing our policies and practices to make sure they are non-discriminatory
3. Our Equality Objectives – what we are doing to further the aims of the General Duty
4. How we have consulted with others to achieve the General Duty and to develop our Equality Scheme

Additional duties as a large employer
As an employer with more than 250 employees our council is also required to publish information on 
gender pay, to demonstrate equality in this area.

Understanding the impact of our services and policies on the council’s customers

The Equality Duty requires us to understand how different people are affected by their policies so that they 
are better informed when making decisions about changing policies and developing new policies and 
services.  

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council will ensure that an Equality Impact Assessment is carried out whenever a 
new service or service-related policy is being developed, or existing ones are being reviewed.  Through this 
process we will be able to identify whether people with protected characteristics are likely to be negatively 
impacted and arrangements can then be put in place to manage, reduce or eliminate the negative impact.

We will take into account our different service users when we carry out the annual evaluation of our equality 
actions and make reference to how they have been impacted by the services we provide.

How Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council is making the difference 

Our council is a large and diverse organisation, employing around 500 people.  We deliver a large number 
of statutory services including planning, public health, waste collection, environmental and land 
management, homeless prevention and housing advice and private sector property enforcement, to name 
but a few.  In addition we provide many non-statutory services.  We are a landlord responsible for more 
than 10,000 homes and we provide a range of community and leisure services for residents.

We take equality and diversity very seriously.  In 2017 we launched a new Equality Steering Group and 
developed a revised Equality Policy.  Our new Policy sets out our five Equality Objectives.

Page 41



OUR EQUALITY OBJECTIVES

Our five Equality Objectives reflect our obligations under the Equality Act 2010 as well as our organisational 
priorities and values.

We have developed an Equalities Plan which includes more information on the activities we will carry out to 
achieve our objectives, including which group of stakeholders will be affected.  Our Equalities Plan can be 
found towards the end of this document.

To gain a better understanding of what we need to do as an organisation to help us achieve our equality 
objectives we have consulted with our customers, including local residents, tenants and employees.  We 
have also consulted with partner organisations which represent protected groups and those which deliver 
services in partnership with us or on our behalf.  

The feedback from the consultation has been taken into account when deciding the actions we need to take.     
We have summarized the feedback we received through the consultation, which we have also included at 
the end of this document.

Objective one:

We will lead by example within the community, promoting equality of opportunity and fairness.

To achieve this we will:
 publish our approach to equalities widely
 engage with groups representing people with protected characteristics
 ensure that partners and contractors delivering services on our behalf adopt our principles and 

approach to equalities

Objective two:

We will value and understand the diversity of our communities, for the benefit of our customers and 
all residents of the borough.

To achieve this we will:
 Collect relevant information about our customers so that we can understand more about their needs 

and preferences for services delivery and to help us identify barriers or potential barriers to accessing 
our services.  All information collected will reflect our obligations under the new General Data 
Protection Regulations.

 Act on customer feedback when shaping our services, including information received through our 
complaints process and regular customer surveys.

 Deliver and support local events aimed at raising awareness of diversity and encourage community 
participation.

 Work with employees, local communities and Members to ensure that our valuing of diversity is 
reflected in our local democracy.

Objective three

We will deliver fully accessible, fair and inclusive services

To achieve this we will:

 Publish and implement a new Customer Service Strategy which sets out our commitment to delivering 
customer-focused services.

 Carry out access audits of all the council’s public sites to identify any potential barriers created by the 
physical environment of our buildings.

 Offer a range of ways for customers to contact us and make sure that council offices and other public 
areas are accessible to people with limited mobility and different sensory abilities.

 Make the most of technology to provide 24/7 access to services and to help enable easy access to 
online services for people with different needs.

Page 42



 Monitor complaints and investigate where there are concerns that people with one or more protected 
characteristic are impacted negatively by our services or lack of service provision.

 Assess the impact of our services and policies on our customers, taking into account the diversity of 
everyone we work with and for.  

 Take a consistent approach to carrying out Equality Impact Assessments and ensure the process is 
clear for employees and simple to implement.  

 Provide training to employees and publish a guidebook which explains how and when they should be 
carried out.  

 Ensure that elected Members understand how to interpret the findings from Equality Impact 
Assessments so that they can make informed decisions on matters relating to changes to policies 
and services and the introduction of new ones.

Objective four:

We will provide equal opportunities to our employees and encourage a culture of equality within the 
work place

To achieve this we will:

 Have in place a Workforce strategy, setting out how we will attract, recruit and foster an effective and 
diverse workforce, maximising the potential of employees and encouraging people to be best they 
can be.

 Closely and regularly monitor the demographics of our workforce population and work towards 
redressing any disparity between the diversity of our community and our employees.  We will do this 
by ensuring that our recruitment processes are fair and job opportunities are widely advertised.  We 
will ensure that officers involved in the recruitment process are trained and understand the council’s 
approach to equality and diversity so that this is reflected in all recruitment processes.  

 Ensure that the recruitment process is accessible.  
 Make reasonable adjustments for applicants and employees so that they do not face barriers.  

Reasonable adjustments may include the physical elements of our buildings and work spaces, 
adaptations to IT equipment and software and supporting flexible working where it is appropriate to 
do so.  We also have in place provision for employees with caring responsibilities.

 Promote our positive approach to diversity in the work place so that current and potential employees 
are encouraged to participate fully in life as an employee of the council.

 Provide appropriate training to employees and elected Members so that they understand the council’s 
approach to equality and how this translates into service delivery and human resources services for 
all customers and employees.

 Ensure that as far as is possible all corporate policies are aligned so that the council’s commitment 
to equal opportunities is reflected in all areas of work.

Objective five:

We will consult with residents and the community on matters which affect them, taking into account 
the diversity of our borough.  

To achieve this we will:

 Make reasonable adjustments to ensure that there are no barriers to prevent people engaging with 
the council in a way which makes them feel comfortable.

 Encourage people to have their say through a framework of resident and stakeholder consultation 
methods including
 Borough Panel
 Tenants Panel
 Focus Groups
 Specialist Groups facilitated by the council, including the Disability Access Group

 Engage with other organisations through a range of forums including Welwyn Hatfield Alliance and 
other strategic partnerships.

 Participate in relevant groups which operate in the borough, specifically those which meet the needs 
of people with different protected characteristics.

Page 43



 Encourage discussion with groups representing the interests of the diverse communities and facilitate 
their work where practical.

How we consulted on our Equality Scheme 

To gain a better understanding of what we need to do as an organisation to help us achieve our objectives 
we have consulted with residents, employees and other customers of the council who are affected by our 
services.  We have also consulted with partner organisations which represent protected groups and those 
which deliver services in partnership with us or on our behalf.  

We consulted with 991 individuals from external groups and organisations. We received 72 responses, many 
of which gave constructive feedback on how we improve our approach to ensuring equality for our customers, 
staff and partners.

Headline results from the consultation were:

 80% of respondents agreed that the actions we proposed for Equality Objective 1 are appropriate to 
helping us meet this objective

 84% of respondents agreed that the actions we proposed for Equality Objective 2 are appropriate to 
helping us meet this objective

 85% of respondents agreed that the actions we proposed for Equality Objective 3 are appropriate to 
helping us meet this objective

 86% of respondents agreed that the actions we proposed for Equality Objective 5 are appropriate to 
helping us meet this objective

In addition we consulted with staff through the council’s Employee Forum on workplace related matters.

The feedback from the consultation has been used to help us identify which actions we need to take, as set 
out in our Equality Plan.

In the consultation survey we asked respondents:

1. Whether they feel that the actions we are proposing to take against the facing equality objectives 
would help us to meet these objectives.

2. Specific questions relating to each of the five objectives, asking for their views on what else we can 
do as an organisation to help meet the objectives.

Who did we consult with?

For our public facing equality objectives (1, 2, 3 and 5) we engaged with:

Customers (residents, tenants and other service users)
 The council’s Borough Panel
 Youth Council
 11-19 year old youth customer group
 Tenants Panel

Partnerships and working groups
 Homeless Prevention Partnership
 Joint Agency Group
 Landlord Forum
 Community Inclusion Partnership
 Interfaith Group
 Polish Forum
 Cultural Consortium
 Herts Sports Partnership

Organisations
 Citizens Advice

Page 44



 Community and Voluntary Service
 One YMCA
 Herts Action on Disability
 WGC Churches Together Group
 Herts Disability Sports Hub
 Hertfordshire Music Service

Contractors
 Mears Group (contractor)
 TSG Building Services (contractor)
 Sopra Steria
 Serco

For equality objective 4 (employee-related) we consulted with our employee forum which is made up of 
council employees.

Many comments and suggestions were made through the consultation process.  A summary of the comments 
can be found at the end of this document.

The Equality Steering Group has reviewed all of the comments and suggestions made during the consultation 
process.  These have been taken into account in the development of the Equality Plan.

Our Equality Plan

Our Equality Plan sets out what we aim to deliver so that we can achieve all of our equality objectives.  The 
Plan is reviewed by the equality steering group four times a year so that progress can be monitored.  Every 
year progress will be reported to the council’s Social Overview and Scrutiny Committee and to the council’s 
Cabinet.

Our Equality Plan can be found on the next page.

MONITORING AND REPORTING OUR ACHIEVEMENTS 

We will regularly monitor our progress in achieving the targets set out in our Equality Plan.  Reports will be 
made to the cross-party Social Overview and Scrutiny Committee and to the council’s leadership group via 
the Executive Member Lead for Equality and Diversity.

Each year we will report on our achievements and be clear where further actions are required.  We will also 
update our Equality Plan for the coming year.

We will publish our annual Equality Report on our website, along with this Equality Scheme and the current 
Equality Plan.

Page 45



[EQUALITY PLAN TO BE INSERTED HERE]

Page 46



We would like to thank everyone who has helped by sharing their views on how we can deliver on 
our equality objectives.

A summary of the comments we received are below:

Objective 1: Lead by example within the community, promoting equality of opportunity and fairness

 Carry out visits within the community to engage with the different communities and groups, 
including schools and colleges, community events, religious centres

 Produce newsletters
 Provide feedback to the public on whether the Equality Policy is being adhered to
 Declare your commitment to equality on the website and reassure people that the equality 

commitment is long lasting
 Use the library to publish information 
 The council’s mission statement should appear on all correspondence
 Celebrate all communities and their different festivals
 Hold events which encourage a better understanding of the diversity in the borough
 Lead on community events
 Hold accessible open days in council offices to promote services and guide people on how 

to access them, including computing, avoiding scams, benefits, how to report repairs and 
plans for providing more affordable housing.

 Promote council information and activities in more public places, including churches, libraries 
and shopping centres

 Use ‘pop up’ stalls to promote your messages
 Publish information on equalities work in the Welwyn Hatfield Times

Objective 2: Value and understand the diversity of our communities for the benefit of our customers 
and all residents of the borough

 Consider older people when providing communication channels – recognise that some older 
people are not able to use the internet 

 Carry out surveys to understand the community
 Identify which communities are less likely to engage with the council and then take steps to 

get in touch with these communities
 Ensure equality is reflected in the council’s planning policies
 Understand that ‘one size does not fit all’
 Be proactive in identifying support requirements
 Ensure that older people are treated fairly and take into account the fact the ‘older’ people 

covers a very wide and diverse group, in age and other factors.

Objective 3: Deliver fully accessible, fair and inclusive services

 Listen to feedback which people give to the council and then use the feedback to inform 
decisions

 Be reliable and do the things which you commit to doing
 Ensure that contractors comply with the council’s approach to equality 
 Have in place arrangements to monitor contractors
 Ask partners whether they comply with the council’s equality approach and support partners 

to do this where they need assistance
 Treat people the same [fairly], including all service users
 Break down language barriers, taking into account that some people cannot understand 

English
 Ensure that elected councilors treat people fairly
 Offer and promote different ways for people to contact the council

Page 47



 Have local offices where people can meet officers
 Bear in mind that at 24/7 website will not be suitable for everyone
 Make staff available after office hours
 Provide easy access to making complaints, through text messages and online
 Ensure the physical aspect of buildings are able to be accessed
 Offer the option of face to face contact with officers where this is required

Objective 4: Provide equal opportunities to our employees and encourage a culture of equality within 
the work place

 Train staff in equality processes
 More diversity in the officers and in the workforce management team to include people from 

different groups, including people with disabilities and women
 Regularly remind staff and local employers about the council’s equality policy
 Ensure fair recruitment for everyone
 Ask employees to get involved in asking customers what they think about the council’s 

approach to delivering fair services

Objective 5: Consult with residents and the community on matters which affect them, taking into 
account the diversity of our borough

 Promote activities using leaflets and posters
 Promote activities using social media
 Encourage engagement with groups from different backgrounds
 Contact local clubs and groups  to share information on equality and to advertise events 

which promote equality
 Hold inclusive events for all
 Consult with charities and organisations supporting the poorer wards in the borough so that 

they are included 
 Use SMS text surveys
 Consult more on a ‘face to face’ basis
 Hold open sessions with the community to gain feedback
 Spend time in public places to listen to community feedback
 Work with the police, schools, social services, charities and communities groups to identify 

how more deprived groups can be engaged
 Understand the feedback from the different ethnic groups in the borough – they will not all be 

the same
 Use community ‘drop in’ centres to engage with the community
 Spread community events across all wards
 Have a local panel which people can feed into
 Involve young people through youth groups 
 Provide more activities for young people
 Engage with residents when planning community facilities, including leisure activities 
 Encourage the creation of neighbourhood groups so that you can engage with them
 Support residents in speaking and understanding English

Page 48



WHBC Equality Scheme Action Plan 2018-21

1

Welwyn Hatfield
Borough Council

Equality Scheme
2018-21

Working better, together

Page 49



WHBC Equality Scheme Action Plan 2018-21

2

Our Equality Scheme Action Plan 2018-21 introduces the five key priorities 
for the Borough of Welwyn Hatfield. 

These are:
 Leading by Example within the Community
 Value and Understand our Communities
 Deliver Fully accessible, fair and inclusive Services
 Provide equal opportunities to our employees
 Consult with residents and the community

Each key priority has been broken down into key actions for our Equalities 
Steering Group to manage.

 Leading by Example within the Community

Action By
When

Publish our approach to equalities widely Sept 2018

Engage with groups representing people with protected characteristics Aug 2018

Ensure that partners and contractors delivering services on our behalf adopt our 
principles and approach to equalities Sept 2018

Work with partner organisations and community representatives to monitor the effects of 
Brexit on community cohesion March 2019

 Value and Understand our Communities

Action By
When

Collect relevant information about our customers so that we can understand more about 
their needs and preferences for services delivery and to help us identify barriers or 
potential barriers to accessing our services.

Dec 2018

Act on customer feedback when shaping our services, including information received 
through our complaints process and regular customer surveys. Dec 2018

Deliver and support local events aimed at raising awareness of diversity and encourage 
community participation. March 2019

We will work with employees, local communities and Members to ensure that our valuing 
of diversity is reflected in our local democracy. Oct 2018

Page 50



WHBC Equality Scheme Action Plan 2018-21

3

 Deliver Fully accessible, fair and inclusive Services

Action By
When

Publish and implement a new Customer Service Strategy which sets out our 
commitment to delivering customer-focused services. Sept 2018

Offer a range of ways for customers to contact us and make sure that council offices 
and other public areas are accessible to people with limited mobility and different 
sensory abilities.

Up to March 
2020

Make the most of technology to provide 24/7 access to services and to help enable 
easy access to online services for people with different needs. Up to 2021

Monitor complaints and investigate where there are concerns that people with one or 
more protected characteristic are impacted negatively by our services or lack of 
service provision.

Oct 2018

Assess the impact of our services and policies on our customers, taking into account 
the diversity of everyone we work with and for. Sept 2018

Take a consistent approach to carrying out Equality Impact Assessments and ensure 
the process is clear for employees and simple to implement.  Provide training to 
employees and publish a guidebook which explains how and when they should be 
carried out.  

Sept 2018

Ensure that elected Members understand how to interpret the findings from Equality 
Impact Assessments so that they can make informed decisions on matters relating to 
changes to policies and services and the introduction of new ones.

July 2018

 Provide equal opportunities to our employees

Action By
When

Have in place a Workforce strategy, setting out how we will attract, recruit and foster 
an effective and diverse workforce, maximising the potential of employees and 
encouraging people to be best they can be.

Oct 2018

Closely and regularly monitor the demographics of our workforce population and work 
towards redressing any disparity between the diversity of our community and our 
employees.  We will do this by ensuring that our recruitment processes are fair and job 
opportunities are widely advertised.  We will ensure that officers involved in the 
recruitment process are trained and understand the council’s approach to equality and 
diversity so that this is reflected in all recruitment processes.  We will ensure that the 
recruitment process is accessible and we will make it clear that we will make 
reasonable adjustments for applicants so that they do not face barriers during the 
application process.

Oct 2018

Page 51



WHBC Equality Scheme Action Plan 2018-21

4

We will promote our positive approach to diversity in the workplace, including 
providing assurance that we will make reasonable adjustments for employees so that 
they can participate fully in life as an employee of Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council.

Oct 2018

Provide appropriate training to employees and elected Members so that they 
understand the council’s approach to equality and how this translates into service 
delivery and human resources services for all customers and employees.

July 2018

Ensure that as far as is possible all corporate policies are aligned so that the council’s 
commitment to equal opportunities is reflected in all areas of work. Oct 2018

 Consult with residents and the community

Action By
When

Make reasonable adjustments to ensure that there are no barriers to prevent people 
participating in a way in which they feel comfortable.

Up to March 
2021

Encourage people to have their say through a framework of resident and stakeholder 
consultation methods including
Borough Panel
Tenants Panel
Focus Groups
Specialist Groups facilitated by the council, including the Disability Access Group

Up to March 
2021

Engage with other organisations through a range of forums including Welwyn Hatfield 
Alliance and other strategic partnerships Oct 2018

Participate in relevant groups which operate in the borough, specifically those which 
meet the needs of people with different protected characteristics.

Up to March 
2021

Encourage discussion with groups representing the interests of the diverse 
communities and facilitate their work where practical.

Up to March 
2021

Work with the Interfaith Group to encourage more schools to get involved with 
Holocaust Memorial day March 2019

Page 52



SOCIAL OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
OVERVIEW WORK PROGRAMME 2018-2019

MEETING 
DATE

REPORT TOPIC AUTHOR PRESENTATIONS and/or 
EXTERNAL PARTIES

10 September 
2018

Public Space Protection Order implementation progress 
update 

Strategic housing update

2018-19 Q1 PIs

Equalities Scheme - Approval of the Policy for information

Homelessness Reduction Act

Stuart Pearson

Sian Chambers

Paul Underwood

Simone Russell

Sian Chambers

26 November 
2018

GLL monitoring Q1 and 2

Public Health Partnerships Fund and Projects – annual update

Health and Wellbeing annual update

Youth and Sport annual update

2018-19 Q2 PIs

Sports Facilities Strategy

Strategic Housing Update consultation

External GLL

Jeannette Hollingsworth

Matt Rayner’s team

Matt Rayner’s team

Paul Underwood

Matt Reyner/
Bryce Tudball

Sian Chambers

P
age 53

A
genda Item

 12



21 January 
2019

ASB Strategy update

Community Safety and Crime Disorder annual update 

Armed Forces Covenant update

Stuart Pearson

Matt Rayner /external 

Jeannette Hollingsworth

4 March 2019 Museum Service annual update

Safeguarding annual update

Town Centres annual update

Paul Underwood/Linda 
Dobbs

Simone Russell

Matt Rayner

June 2019 GLL annual update, including 2018-19 Q 3 and 4 PIs

2018-19 Q 4 PIs

Community Spaces Strategy

GLL

Paul Underwood

Matt Reyner

Members of the Committee may identify and add items to the work programme that are within the remit of the Committee.

P
age 54


	Agenda
	4 ACTIONS UPDATE
	8 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR REPORT
	8a - PI Presentation - Sept 2018

	10 STRATEGIC HOUSING UPDATE
	10a - Strategic housing update App A

	11 EQUALITY SCHEME 2018-21
	11a - Equality Scheme  2018-21 Update
	11b - Equality Scheme Public Action Plan Update

	12 COMMITTEE OVERVIEW WORK PROGRAMME 2018/19

